
 

 

 
 

  
  

 
 

  
  

          
   

    
        

 
 

              
 

     
 

 
 

   
 

       
 

  
 

  
  
  
  
    
   
   
   
  
  

 
   

 
 

 

   
 
 
 
 
 

 

AGENDA 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 

Lakeland City Hall, City Commission Chambers 
February 26, 2026, 8:30 A.M. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with 
disabilities needing special accommodation to participate in this proceeding, or those requiring language 
assistance (free of charge) should contact the City of Lakeland ADA Specialist, Kristin Meador, no later 
than 48 hours prior to the proceeding, at (863) 834-8444, Email: ADASpecialist@lakelandgov.net. If 
hearing impaired, please contact the TDD numbers: Local – (863) 834-8333 or 1-800-955- 8771 (TDD-
Telecommunications Device for the Deaf) or the Florida Relay Service Number 1-800-955-8770 
(VOICE), for assistance. 

Anyone deciding to appeal a decision by the Board on any matter considered at this or any subsequent 
meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for purposes of that appeal, may need to ensure that 
a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon 
which the appeal is to be based. 

I. Call to order, determination of a quorum, and roll call 

II. Review and approval of the January 22, 2026 Historic Preservation Board meeting minutes 

III. Old Business: 
A. Historic Lakeland, Inc. Watch List Report 

i. 2430 New Jersey Road* 
ii. 632 Easton Street* 
iii. 2304 Carolina Avenue* 
iv. 417 Frank Lloyd Wright Way (C.W. Deen House) 
v. 412 N. Massachusetts Avenue* 
vi. 104-106 E. Main Street (Hartsell Building) 
vii. 121-123 N. Kentucky Avenue (Montgomery Ward Building) 
viii. 321 W. Peachtree Street* 
ix. 809 Cornelia Avenue 

IV. New Business: NONE 

V. Adjourn for Design Review Committee 

*Not located within a Historic District. 

Y:\CDDO\HPB.DRC\HPB-DRC 2026\02.26.26\02.26.26 HPB Agenda.docx 

mailto:ADASpecialist@lakelandgov.net
https://2026\02.26.26\02.26.26


 

 
 

 
  
 

 
 

        
 

 
 

      
    

  
 

    
           

            
  

 
      

     
    

 
   

   
 

  
   
  
  
    
   
   
   
  
  

 
 

   
   

  
 

    
   

 
 

   
       

MINUTES 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 
City Commission Chambers 
Thursday, January 22, 2026 
8:30 a.m. 

(Please note: These meeting minutes comply with FS 286.011 and are not intended to be a verbatim 
transcript.) 

The City of Lakeland Historic Preservation Board met in Regular Session; Bruce Anderson, Abigail Hunt-
Tidwell, Natalie Oldenkamp, Chris Olson, Cesar Perez, and Michael Porter were present. Community & 
Economic Development Department staff Emily Foster, Senior Planner, Historic Preservation and Christelle 
Burrola, Planning Assistant, and Katie Prenoveau, Assistant City Attorney, were also present. 

I. Call to Order and Determination of a Quorum 
Chair Dr. Bruce Anderson called the Thursday, January 22, 2026 meeting of the Historic 
Preservation Board (“Board”) to order at 8:32 a.m. A quorum was reached, as six Board members 
were present. 

II. Review and Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes 
Mr. Chris Olson motioned to approve the December 18, 2025 meeting minutes as presented. Ms. 
Natalie Oldenkamp seconded the motion. The motion passed 6—0. 

III. Old Business: 
A. Historic Lakeland, Inc. Watch List Report. Ms. Emily Foster provided the Board with an update 

on 302 E. Belvedere Street. 
i. 2430 New Jersey Road* 
ii. 302 E. Belvedere Street * 
iii. 632 Easton Street* 
iv. 2304 Carolina Avenue* 
v. 417 Frank Lloyd Wright Way (C.W. Deen House) 
vi. 412 N. Massachusetts Avenue* 
vii. 104-106 E. Main Street (Hartsell Building) 
viii. 121-123 N. Kentucky Avenue (Montgomery Ward Building) 
ix. 321 W. Peachtree Street 
i. 809 Cornelia Avenue 

*Not located within a Historic District; brief building histories provided to Board 

IV. New Business: 
A. Workshop to discuss Certificate of Review application and submittal process, following 

Design Review Committee meeting. (City Commission Conference Room) 

V. Adjourn for Design Review Committee. 
The meeting adjourned at 8:36 a.m. 

Chair, Historic Preservation Board Senior Planner, Historic Preservation 

1 



 

  

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
        

     
     

   
 

 
 

       
   

 
 

     
 

       
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

       
   

   
 

       
  

 
   

 
   

AGENDA 
DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 

Lakeland City Hall, City Commission Chambers 
February 26, 2026 

immediately following the Historic Preservation Board Meeting 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities 
needing special accommodation to participate in this proceeding, or those requiring language assistance (free of charge) 
should contact the City of Lakeland ADA Specialist, Kristin Meador, no later than 48 hours prior to the proceeding, at (863) 
834-8444, Email: ADASpecialist@lakelandgov.net. If hearing impaired, please contact the TDD numbers: Local – (863) 
834-8333 or 1-800-955- 8771 (TDD-Telecommunications Device for the Deaf) or the Florida Relay Service Number 1-800-
955-8770 (VOICE), for assistance. 

Anyone deciding to appeal a decision by the Board on any matter considered at this or any subsequent meeting will need 
a record of the proceedings, and for purposes of that appeal, may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings 
is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 

I. Call to order, determination of a quorum, and roll call. 

II. Review and approval of the January 22, 2026 Design Review Committee meeting minutes. 

III. Review Certificates of Review administratively approved since the previous meeting. 

IV. Consideration of Certificate of Review Applications: 

A. Oath Administration for Public Testimony by Assistant City Attorney. 

B. HPB26-012 – 811 Cumberland Street – Final Approval requested to replace eleven wood windows with 
white vinyl windows on the second story of the house at the subject address. Owner: Loren Hulse 
Revocable Trust. Applicant: West Shore Home. 

C. HPB26-019 – 749 Vistabula Street – Final Approval requested to demolish the house at the subject 
address. Owner: Dechomai Asset Trust, Bryan Clontz, Trustee. Applicant: David Bunch. 

V. Other Business: None 

VI. Adjournment. 

Y:\CDDO\HPB.DRC\HPB-DRC 2026\02.26.26\02.26.26 DRC Agenda.docx 

mailto:ADASpecialist@lakelandgov.net
https://2026\02.26.26\02.26.26


 
 

 
 
 

  
 

    
 

 
     

          
          

     
       

 

   

    
  

     

        
  

    

   
          
    

             
 

  

   
 

        
  

 

             
  

          
  

  
 

  
  

MINUTES 

DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 
City Commission Chambers 
Thursday, January 22, 2026 
Immediately following Historic Preservation Board meeting 

(Note: These meeting minutes comply with F.S. 286.011 and are not intended to be a verbatim 
transcript.) 

The City of Lakeland Historic Preservation Board’s Design Review Committee met in Regular 
Session; Bruce Anderson, Natalie Oldenkamp, Chris Olson, Cesar Perez and Michael Porter were 
present. Historic Preservation Board member Abigail Hunt-Tidwell was also present. Community & 
Economic Development Department staff Emily Foster, Senior Planner, Historic Preservation and 
Christelle Burrola, Planning Assistant, and Katie Prenoveau, Assistant City Attorney, were also 
present. 

I. Call to Order and Determination of a Quorum 

The meeting was called to order by Chair Michael Porter at 8:36 a.m. The Committee roll call was 
performed and a quorum was present. 

II. Review cand Approval of the Previous Meeting Minutes 

Mr. Chris Olson made a motion to approve the December 18, 2025 minutes as presented. Dr. 
Bruce Anderson seconded the motion. The motion passed 5—0. 

III. Review of Certificates of Review administratively approved. 

A list of fourteen (14) administratively approved Certificate of Review projects covering the period 
12/9/25-1/15/26 was included with the agenda packet. In response to Ms. Natalie Oldenkamp, 
Ms. Emily Foster confirmed that the new fence for 1520 Boone Place (HPB25-231) will be a wood 
picket fence for the front yard portion. There were no additional questions or comments about 
these projects. 

IV. Consideration of Certificate of Review Applications: 

A. Oath Administration for Public Testimony by Assistant City Attorney Katie 
Prenoveau. 

B. HPB25-236 – 204 Ariana Street – Final Approval requested to construct a new 
accessory dwelling unit in the rear yard of the subject property. Owner: Janice 
Horzempa. Applicant: DBR Construction LLC. 

Chair Porter introduced the request and then asked if there were any conflicts of interest 
pertaining to this agenda item. There were no conflicts. 

Ms. Emily Foster presented the staff report, stating the subject property consists of an 
interior lot that is 0.23 acres in area. On the property is a one-story single-family house, 
constructed circa 1938 in the Frame Vernacular architectural style, and is a contributing 
building in the Dixieland Historic District, as of the 2025 resurvey. According to the Polk 
County Property Appraiser’s office, the total living area of this house is 1,088 square feet. 
The Applicant proposes to construct a new Accessory Dwelling Unit at the rear of the 



    

 
           

 
   

 

   
   
  
  
     
   

   
 

           
    

  
 

  
       

 
            

          
 

       
   

 
  

           
     

   
 

     
      

  

    

       
 

    
 

  
 

property. The overall dimensions of the proposed ADU are 23 feet 8 inches by 23 feet 8 
inches with a total living area of 419.3 square feet. The ADU will have a gabled roof with 
a 9/12 pitch and a small integrated porch on the front (north) elevation, as well as a ‘lean-
to’ storage area on the west side elevation. Materials proposed to be used for the ADU 
include: 

• Concrete slab foundation and CMU structure 
• Fiber-cement siding, trim, and corner boards 
• Vinyl windows with a one-over-one lite configuration 
• Fiberglass entry door 
• Asphalt/fiberglass architectural roofing shingles 
• Fascia is TBD, and vinyl soffit 

The site plan submitted for this request shows building setbacks that comply with the 
requirements set forth in the City’s Land Development Code. 

Ms. Foster stated that the request was evaluated using Article 11 of the Land Development 
Code, Secretary of the Interior’s Standards #9 and #10, and Chapter 4 of the Design 
Guidelines for Historic Properties. Staff finds that this proposed new construction does not 
disturb the spatial relationships of surrounding buildings, and the essential form and 
integrity of the principal house is maintained. In evaluating the request with the Design 
Guidelines, staff finds the subordinate scale of the ADU and its simplified design to be 
consistent with the Design Guidelines. Staff also finds the materials, fenestration, and roof 
form and pitch to be consistent with the Design Guidelines, and the structure is 
appropriately located to the rear of the lot. This structure is compatible with the 
development pattern in the Dixieland neighborhood, in which accessory dwellings are 
commonly found in both historic and contemporary forms. Finally, while the proposal 
generally conforms with the requirements of Land Development Code (“LDC”) concerning 
accessory dwelling units, this ADU proposal will require approval by the Planning and 
Zoning Board prior to receiving a building permit. To comply with the ADU development 
requirements in the LDC, the site plan will need to be revised to show one parking space 
for the ADU. Ms. Foster stated staff recommends Final Approval of the request with the 
condition that windows must be installed with a recess to provide a shadow line instead of 
installed flush with the exterior wall. 

Chair Porter asked if the applicant had any additional comments or questions. Mr. Shaun 
Irwin was present in support of the request. Mr. Irwin had no additional comments or 
questions. 

In response to Chair Porter, Mr. Irwin stated he agrees with the recommendation. 

Discussion ensued among the Applicant and Board regarding the corner boards and 
columns. 

MOTION: Final approval of the request with the condition recommended by staff. 
(B. Anderson/C. Olson, 5—0). 

V. Other Business: NONE 

Page 2 



    

    
  

 

              
     

 

VI. Adjournment: There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:56 
a.m. 

Chair, Design Review Committee Senior Planner, Historic Preservation 

Page 3 



 

    
 

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

    
 

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

   
 

    

 

     

 

     
                   

 

     

 

     

                   
      

 

     
              

 

    
                       

                     
                   

                
          

 

     

                    
 

           
 

     
             

                    
                    
                     

   
 

     

 

     
                     

                 
                

     

     

   

iMS Certificates of Review - Minor Review 
Date Approved from 1/16/2026 to 2/16/2026 

Number 
Location 
Description Milestone Approved 

HPB26-010 Certificate of Review with Conditions Issued 01/23/26 

122 LAKE AVE S, LAKELAND, FL 33801 
Replacing 6 metal awning windows size for size with one vinyl horizontal slider window (FL# 5179.9) and 5 vinyl single-hung sash 
windows (FL#5414.4) 

HPB26-011 Certificate of Review Issued 01/16/26 
549 HANCOCK ST W, LAKELAND, FL 33803 
Installation of 6’ wood stockade fence at sides/rear of property and 4’ aluminum rail fence at rear of property. 

HPB26-013 Certificate of Review Issued 01/20/26 
1201 FLORIDA AVE S, LAKELAND, FL 33803 
Refacing of existing Marathon gas station canopy fascia. Plastic with external lighting only on fascia - marathon logo 20 sqft 48" in 
height 60" in width will not be lighted. 

HPB26-014 Certificate of Review Issued 01/21/26 
840 WALNUT ST E, LAKELAND, FL 33801 
Construction of below ground pool with travertine decking. Pool not visible from street; located in back yard. 

HPB26-015 Certificate of Review Issued 01/23/26 
414 PATTERSON ST W, LAKELAND, FL 33803 
Install 40 linear feet of 6'h full privacy tan vinyl fence in rear yard of subject property. 

HPB26-016 Certificate of Review Issued 01/23/26 
606 PATTERSON ST W, LAKELAND, FL 33803 
Replacing the current interior wood fencing with white vinyl privacy fencing in rear yard of subject property. 

HPB26-017 Certificate of Review with Conditions Issued 02/05/26 

1034 MISSISSIPPI AVE, LAKELAND, FL 33803 
Replacement of badly deteriorated wood windows on the north side of our house and on the south side of our house. The front and 
rear windows will not be replaced. The existing windows (total of 9) on the side elevations of house are in very poor shape and 
they have already been refurbished over 10 years ago, but they are very rotted currently. The windows are about to fall out and 
are allowing water intrusion in interior walls. Replacement windows will be vinyl single-hung sash windows with a exterior mounted 
Prairie grid on the upper sash to match the historic windows (FL#1435). 

HPB26-018 Certificate of Review Issued 02/05/26 
517 WILSON AVE S, LAKELAND, FL 33801 
Remove and replace existing concrete driveway including apron and sidewalk, add new 8'5 x 19 concrete pad near right elevation 
fenceline. Driveway flares will be 3'. The curb will have a 3' transition in the apron. 12"x12" footer will be placed where apron 
meets the road. The sidewalk will meet ADA standards max 2% cross slope. The thickness of the apron will be 6". The rest of the 
driveway is 4" thick with 3000psi. 

HPB26-021 Certificate of Review Issued 02/13/26 
606 PATTERSON ST W, LAKELAND, FL 33803 
Conversion of existing screened rear porch/addition to enclosed conditioned space within the current footprint and roofline. Work 
includes removal of screen panels and windows, installation of framed exterior walls, insulation, drywall, and installation of a rear 
door matching existing size and location. 

HPB26-023 Certificate of Review Issued 02/04/26 
948 PALMETTO ST E, LAKELAND, FL 33801 
Install 78' of 6' High Golden Oak Tongue and Groove PVC Fence with matte finish in the west side and rear yards. 

Intuitive Municipal Solutions, LLC 
1 of 2 Created: 

https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709517827
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709518331
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709518989
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709519598
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709520319
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709520438
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709521026
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709521278
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709523756
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709524120
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709520319
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709520319
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709518331
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709518331
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709518989
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709518989
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709517827
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709517827
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709519598
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709519598
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709521026
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709521026
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709521278
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709521278
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709520438
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709520438
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709523756
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709523756
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709524120
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709524120


    

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

   
  

    
      
             

               
             

 

    
                    

  

 

    

     

   

iMS Certificates of Review - Minor Review 
Date Approved from 1/16/2026 to 2/16/2026 

HPB26-024 Certificate of Review Issued 02/04/26 
1000 PENNSYLVANIA AVE, LAKELAND, FL 33803 
ADDING SLEEPER SYSTEM WITH DECKING AND HANDRAILS TO FLAT ROOF ON NORTH SIDE ELEVATION OF HOUSE. DOOR FROM 
MASTER BEDROOM TO DECK IS ALREADY EXISTING WE ARE JUST MAKING THE SPACE USABLE. 

HPB26-025 Certificate of Review Issued 02/16/26 
923 CUMBERLAND ST, LAKELAND, FL 33801 
Installation of a new set of concrete steps on the driveway side of the front porch and new wood railings wrapping the existing 
porch. 

HPB26-028 Certificate of Review Issued 02/13/26 
826 SUCCESS AVE, LAKELAND, FL 33801 
CHANGE OUT GARAGE DOOR SIZE FOR SIZE 
Heritage 1000 Short Panel, White, Size 9'x7', With SP Glass (FL#31372.29). Design is the same as existing. 

Total Planning Projects Approved: 13 

Intuitive Municipal Solutions, LLC 
2 of 2 Created: 

https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709524939
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709526255
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709528754
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709528754
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709528754
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709526255
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709526255
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709524939
https://ims.lakelandgov.net/ims/Base/Details/?EncrID=709524939
https://FL#31372.29


   
 

  
 

 
 

 
  
   
  
  
 

   
  

       
  

 
   

  
   

  
 

 
 

     
 

 
 

       
        

            
       

      
       

   
 

 

      
       

       
      

    
 

      
       
      

     
 

 
 
 
 
 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 
DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 

STAFF REPORT 
February 26, 2026 

Project # HPB26-012 
Project Type Exterior Alteration: Replacement Windows 

Property Address 811 Cumberland Street 
Historic District; 

FMSF# 
South Lake Morton Historic District 
#PO00530, “T.H. Lander House” 

Owner/Applicant Loren Hulse Revocable Trust \ West Shore Home 
Zoning; Context District; 

Future Land Use; SPI 
RA-4; Urban Neighborhood; Residential Medium; South Lake Morton SPI 

Existing Use Residential 
Adjacent Properties Residential 
Previous Approvals N/A 

REQUEST 

The Applicants request approval for eleven replacement windows installed without Design Review approval. 

SUMMARY OF BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The subject property is an interior lot of record (Park Hill Subdivision, Block E, Lot 5) that is 0.16 acres in size 
(50’ X 135’). This lot contains a single-family house in the Bungalow architectural style, built circa 1925, that 
is a contributing building in the South Lake Morton Historic District. The two-story house has a rectangular 
plan oriented to Cumberland Street, and features a double front-gabled roof with a side gabled second story. 
The front porch is supported by three tapered, stuccoed columns. Additional character-defining features of 
the house include decorative beams in the gables, 90-degree lattice in the gable vents, stucco cladding, a 
brick chimney, and a combination of three-over-one wood double-hung sash and ten-lite wood casement 
windows. 

On January 8, 2026, a Code Enforcement violation was issued for replacing eleven windows on the second 
story of this house without a Certificate of Review and Building Permit. The historic double-hung sash wood 
windows were replaced with double-hung sash vinyl windows with a three-over-one simulated divided lite 
appearance with the “grids” sandwiched between the double-pane window glass. All original window trim 
and casing appear to have been retained. 

Based on the code violation, a Stop-Work Order was issued. The Applicant applied for Minor Review (HPB26, 
but that application was denied as the window replacement was inconsistent with the Design Guidelines for 
Historic Properties. The Applicant also has applied for a building permit, which is currently pending due to 
this request. According to the Applicant, the historic wood windows that were removed have been disposed 
of. 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2026\02.26.26\811 cumberland street (hpb26-012)\811 cumberland street staff report.docx Page 1 



   
 

 
 

       
      

    
 

   
 

    
   

    
   

 

    
         

  
 

    
  

  
      

  
      

  
    

      
      

       
     

  
    

   
  

       
     

     
     

   
   

       
  

        
    

      
      

    
 

APPLICABLE GUIDELINES: 

The Secretary of Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation (“Standards”) and the City of Lakeland’s Design 
Guidelines for Historic Properties (“Design Guidelines”) are the basis for review per the City of Lakeland 
Land Development Code (“LDC”), Article 11: Historic Preservation Standards. 

The following Standards apply to this project: 

Standard #9. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction will not destroy historic 
materials, features, and spatial relationships that characterize the property. The new works will be 
differentiated from the old and will be compatible with the historic materials, features, size, scale, and 
proportion, and massing to protect the integrity of the property and its environment. 

Standard #10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be undertaken in such a 
manner that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property and its 
environment would be unimpaired. 

The following Design Guidelines apply to this project: 
Chapter 6 Exterior Architectural Features: Alteration and Maintenance; Sub-Chapter 6.4 Windows and 
Shutters (for Contributing Buildings) 

• Preserve original windows. Original windows should be repaired and restored, rather than 
replaced. 

• Use clear replacement glass to repair broken panes. Do not use tinted, reflective, opaque, or other 
non-traditional glass types. 

• Existing window trim, casing, and other decorative details contributing to the building’s character 
should be preserved. Any replacement of trim, casing and other decorative details surrounding the 
window must use the same or similar material of the same design, profile, and dimension. 

• Window openings should be kept in the same proportion as originally provided. Window head 
heights should be consistent throughout the building. Avoid enlarging or diminishing window 
openings to fit air conditioning units. 

• Replacement of original windows should only be considered in cases where original windows have 
deteriorated beyond reasonable repair. 

• Replacement window requirements: 
o Window design should reflect the architectural style of the building (see Chapter 5: House 

Styles for window designs appropriate for specific architectural styles). 
o Must retain the opening size of the original window. 
o Must use the same type of window as the original. Double-hung sash windows may be 

replaced with a double-hung sash or single-hung sash window. 
o Must retain the same divided lite/pane pattern as the original window. Muntins/grids must 

be dimensional and mounted to the exterior glass, approximately of the same dimension as 
the original window; 

o Must be installed with a recess inside the casing of the window opening to produce a 
shadow line (flush installation is not permitted); box or block frame windows are 
recommended as fin/flange windows do not produce an adequate recess. 

o Double or grouped windows may not be separated by a standard mull bar and must be 
separated by a wood or similar material mullion of the same dimension as the original 
mullion. 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2026\02.26.26\811 cumberland street (hpb26-012)\811 cumberland street staff report.docx Page 2 



   
 

        
     

     
  

        
     

 
 

 
      

       
      

 

    
       

     
       

       
      

      
 

   
        

    
    

  
  

      
 

     
      

     
     

 
 

      
  

   
 

 
 

    
 
 

      
 

o Window must be trimmed out with wood or similar material of the same design, profile, and 
dimension as the original, including angled sill and top drip edge. It is recommended that 
the original window trim and casing be preserved. 

o Non-historic windows such as jalousie, awning, and aluminum single-hung sash windows, 
may be replaced with windows that are typical for the architectural style of the building. 

o Possible substitutes must be approved by the Historic Preservation Board. 

ANALYSIS: 

Typically, window replacement requires only staff-level review and approval, as long as the replacement 
window complies with the Design Guidelines. Because the request did not comply with the Design 
Guidelines, it was referred to the Committee for review. 

Original windows are character-defining features of a historic building, and their replacement with modern 
windows can adversely affect the architectural integrity of a building. The architectural style of the subject 
house is Bungalow, which is expressed in part by its three-over-one historic wood windows. In cases of 
severe deterioration, replacement windows may be approved as long as adequate justification is provided 
and the replacement windows match the historic windows in appearance, including: pane configuration, 
dimensional muntins attached to the exterior glass, installation with an adequate recess and profile, and 
maintaining or replicating the historic trim and casing. 

Staff finds that the justification statement provided by the Applicant does not meet the guidelines for 
replacing the subject windows, as the statement did not prove the windows satisfied the conditions of being 
“beyond repair.” Instead, the statement cited poor insulation, increased energy costs, inoperability, and 
deteriorating wood. In one photograph provided by the Applicant, the sill of the window is clearly rotting due 
to a window air conditioning unit in that window, and the rot has been caused from the condensation of the 
A/C unit. The other photographs suggest windows in repairable condition. Further, the Design Guidelines do 
not include energy efficiency as a reason to replace windows. 

While the original window trim was maintained, keeping the original profile of the window openings, staff 
finds that the replacement window grids are sandwiched between the double-pane window glass, which 
does not comply with the exterior-mounted, dimensional muntin requirement. In addition, the frame of the 
replacement window adds bulk to the window opening, which results in a visually smaller window sash than 
the historic wood windows. 

For these reasons, staff finds this request does not comply with the Design Guidelines. As the historic 
windows have been disposed of, staff suggests replacement wood or composite sashes be constructed to 
fit within the original frame, per the Design Guidelines (page 225). 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Denial of the request as submitted. 

Report prepared by: Emily Foster, Senior Planner, Historic Preservation 
Liaison to the Historic Preservation Board 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2026\02.26.26\811 cumberland street (hpb26-012)\811 cumberland street staff report.docx Page 3 

























 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Justification Statement for Historic Review 

Lorene Hulse contacted West Shore Home LLC regarding multiple issues with the existing 
windows at her residence. The original windows were outdated and constructed of deteriorating 
wood, resulting in poor insulation, increased energy costs, and added strain on the home’s heating 
and air conditioning systems. 

The condition of the windows also created operational and safety concerns. Several windows were 
difficult or impossible to operate due to age and rot, limiting proper ventilation and functionality. 
The deteriorated wood further reduced the security of the home and detracted from the appearance 
of an otherwise well-maintained historic residence. 

To resolve these issues while preserving the historic character of the home and neighborhood, 
West Shore Home LLC was contracted to install new vinyl replacement windows in a white-on-
white finish. This selection was made to closely match the original appearance of the existing 
windows and minimize visual impact to the historic façade. The new windows provide improved 
energy efficiency, restored operability, enhanced security, and an overall improvement to the 
home’s appearance. 

The window replacement supports the continued preservation and livability of the historic property 
while maintaining compatibility with the architectural character of the surrounding historic district. 



   

     

       

  

  

 

 

   

        

       

 

     

     

      

       

   

      

 

       

Hallay 

2334x373/4 

PPE 

I" thick 

WEST SHORE WINDOW MEASURE SHEET 
HOME-

#OF INSTALLERS NEEDED: 6 CUSTOMER: Hu/se MiCKTEH: 

DAYS TO COMPLETE: ADRES:811 Cumberland St Lokeland 
LOCATION QUANTITY STYLE WIDTH X HEIGHT MISC. 

Bed142 

서

DH 27/1x53 aV All DH'S 
Bed12 DH 235/8x 4574 

XHallway 6 
XGuest BAth 
X 

Bed#2 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

•Type of tear out Wooden 
-Any mullions being removed ☐Yes ☐ No 

- Willshutter/blinds fitagain☐ Yes ☐ No 

-Bays/Bows 

- Roof or soffit tie in 

- Supports or brick underneath? Condition? 

- Need jamb depth & projection (degree 

- If in brick extend jamb to brick 

- Exterior opening size 

- Shoemold 

- Changes Made ☐Yes ☐No 

Lead Present! 
Secend Floer WindenMay need To replace sill 



 

20 

Bath 

Hallway 
-26-

10 
4 4 

10 

9 

16 18 

-26- * 
Bod #1 

Bed 

36 BAS 20 
TWO 

#2 

37 

12 

10 10FOP 

14-

K 

12 













  
 

 
 

 
 

 
  
  
   
     
    
        

  
  

 
     
  

  
    

   
 

 
 

      
 

 
 

     
      

           
 

     
    

  
      

      
     

      
     

 

      
       

 

        
   

   
      

   
       

           
       

  

HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD 
DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 

STAFF REPORT 
February 26, 2026 

Project # HPB26-019 
Project Type Demolition 

Property Address 749 Vistabula Street 
Historic Name “Chris and Alice Hansen House” (1922 Sanborn, 1921 CD) 

Historic District; FMSF# East Lake Morton Historic District; PO03426 
Owner/Applicant Dechomai Asset Trust, Bryan Clontz, Trustee / David Bunch, 

Hauger-Bunch, Inc. Realtors 
Zoning; Context District; 

Future Land Use; SPI 
MF-12; Urban Neighborhood; Residential Medium; East Lake 
Morton SPI 

Existing Use Residential 
Adjacent Properties Residential; Civic; Institutional 
Previous Approvals Accessory Building Demolition, 5/27/2025 (HPB25-106) 

REQUEST 

The Applicant requests approval to demolish the existing house on the subject property. 

SUMMARY OF BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The subject property is located at the southwest corner of Vistabula Street and Michigan Avenue and 
consists of 0.24 acres (RR Sullivan Addition, Lots 11 & 12). On this property is a one-story single-family 
house, which was built circa 1921 and is a contributing building in the East Lake Morton Historic District. 

Exhibiting the Craftsman Bungalow architectural style, this house features a front-gabled roof with knee 
brackets and a rectangular attic vent and window combination, notched rafter tails, a hipped roof front 
porch supported by tapered columns on brick plinths that has been screened, a slant roof porte cochere, 
and both multi-lite wood casement windows and jalousie windows. The house is a wood-framed structure 
on brick piers and is clad in asbestos shingle siding. A porch along the east side of the house is original to 
its construction date, but has been enclosed with siding and jalousie windows. A two-story detached 
garage with upstairs apartment was partially destroyed by a fallen tree limb; this accessory structure was 
demolished in 2025 following issuance of a Certificate of Review by staff (Minor Review). 

The current owner of the property purchased it in January 2026. The previous property owner had owned it 
since 1988. However, the property has not had active utility services since August 2002. 

In justifying the request for demolition, the Applicant states that the house has been significantly damaged 
by not being maintained, termite damage, and inappropriate additions. The limited inspection report 
submitted as part of this application states that the house has major structural damage to the extent the 
building is unsafe for occupancy. The Applicant claims that in recent years the property has become a 
blight upon the neighborhood and has been subject to numerous Code Enforcement violations. There are 
no specific plans for reuse of the property other than removal of a blighted condition. The Applicant notes 
that the structure is located in a prominent mixed-use neighborhood including the AGB Museum, First 
United Methodist Church, Lakeland Public Library, and The Junior League of Greater Lakeland within the 
historic Sorosis Building, together with commercial buildings, single-family homes and apartments. 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2026\02.26.26\749 vistabula street (hpb26-019)\749 vistabula street staff report.docx Page 1 



  
 

    
  

 
 

 

 
     

   
 

   
 

      
        

    
     

   
      

       
     

 

    
 

    
   

 

    
      

 

    
    

  
      

 
     
      

     
      

 
    

    
 

 

      
       

        
     

   
 

     
      

    
   

    

According to the Applicant, the purchaser wishes to develop plans for this property that will protect and 
enhance this unique neighborhood. 

APPLICABLE GUIDELINES: 

The Secretary of Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation (“Standards”) and the City of Lakeland’s Design 
Guidelines for Historic Properties (“Design Guidelines”) are the basis for review per the City of Lakeland 
Land Development Code (“LDC”), Article 11: Historic Preservation Standards. 

The following section of the LDC applies to this request: 

Article 11, Section 6.3.c. Demolition is generally discouraged and shall be reviewed with regards to: 
1. The architectural significance of the building or structure. Architectural significance shall be 

determined by the DRC at the time of the demolition request and shall be based upon 
documentation of the property’s architectural integrity and historical or cultural significance. 
Designation of the building or structure as “non-contributing” by the most recent historic district 
survey does not preclude the DRC from making a determination of architectural significance. 

2. The contribution of the building or structure to the history or origins of the historic district. 
3. The future utilization of the site, including any replacement buildings or structures. 

The following Design Guidelines apply to this request: 

Chapter 6, Exterior Architectural Features: Alteration and Maintenance 
Sub-Chapter 6.12, Relocation and Demolition 

The Historic Preservation Board discourages the demolition of sound historic buildings. A request for 
demolition will be determined based on the following considerations and guidance. 

1. The architectural significance of the building or structure shall be considered, including a 
building’s historical or cultural associations to its neighborhood, historic district, or to the history 
of Lakeland. Architectural significance is based upon documentation of the property’s 
architectural integrity and historical or cultural significance. It is inappropriate to demolish a 
building that is architecturally significant. Further considerations include: 

a. Does the building represent a documented architectural type or style? 
b. Is the building a rare resource? Is it one of few remaining examples of its period of 

construction, or of its architectural style or type remaining? 
c. Consider the difficulty or impossibility of reproducing the building. Does the building exhibit 

characteristics of historic craftsmanship, such as carved wood or detailed masonry, that 
would be difficult or impossible to replicate? Does the building contain historic materials, 
such as historic brick, stone, or old-growth lumber, that are no longer available and 
impossible to reproduce? 

2. The contribution of the building or structure to the history or origins of the neighborhood, historic 
district, or history of Lakeland shall be considered. Does the building contribute to the setting and 
character of the district? Would the historic setting and character of the district be diminished by 
the loss of the building? It is inappropriate to demolish a building that contributes to the historic 
setting and character of the district. 

3. The future utilization of the site, including any replacement buildings or structures, shall be 
considered. Will the property be reused after demolition? Will any new structure be compatible 
with the historic context of the neighborhood or historic district and in harmony with the massing, 
scale, and proportion of adjacent buildings? How will future plans affect the character of the 
surrounding historic district? It is inappropriate to demolish a historic building without definitive 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2026\02.26.26\749 vistabula street (hpb26-019)\749 vistabula street staff report.docx Page 2 



  
 

   
          

     
    

 
 

 

       
     

    
        

     
   

 
        

     
      

          
      

 

        
    

       
       

        
       

        
 

       
 

    
    

     
        

     
      

        
 

 

   
      

      
 

 
 

   
 

 
     

 

plans for the property’s re-use. It is inappropriate to demolish a building for new construction that 
would diminish the character of the historic district. It is generally inappropriate to demolish a 
building for reuse as a parking lot, as this could have an extremely negative effect on the character 
of a residential historic district or urban block. 

ANALYSIS: 

With regard to demolition considerations #1 and #2, staff finds the subject house is a contributing building 
in the East Lake Morton Historic District as it represents the Craftsman Bungalow architectural style, was 
built during the District’s period of significance, and for its association with the Florida Land Boom historic 
context in Lakeland. While the architectural details of this house are relatively modest, the style reflects a 
transition from the simpler Frame Vernacular houses built in Lakeland between 1880 and 1915 to the 
popular and more decorative Bungalow style houses built in the 1920s. Although Bungalow houses are 
common within the East Lake Morton Historic District, this house displays unique features, such as multi-
lite casement windows and notched rafter tails. Additionally, despite the asbestos siding and side porch 
enclosure, the house retains a high level of architectural integrity. While this house is not eligible for an 
individual listing on the National Register of Historic Places based on its known architectural or historical 
merits, it contributes to the history and context of the East Lake Morton Historic District due to its location, 
design, setting, materials, workmanship, and feeling (six of the seven aspects of historic integrity). 

Aside from its historical link to the Florida Land Boom era in Lakeland, the house has no known 
associations with persons or events of relative importance in Lakeland’s history. The original owners of the 
house were Chris and Alice Hansen, who purchased the property in 1921 and likely had the house built for 
them. Their daughter Elizabeth and son-in-law Cecil Sipe also lived with them. Chris immigrated to the U.S. 
in 1882 from Norway and worked as a signal man for the Atlantic Coast Line railroad. Sometime in the late 
1930s, the Hansens moved from the subject house to a house in Dixieland at 911 S. Missouri Avenue. The 
Hansens represent the many working class families that helped form the Lake Morton neighborhood. 

With regard to demolition consideration #3, redevelopment plans for the property were not provided. 

The Historic Preservation Standards state that the demolition of “sound historic structures” will be 
discouraged. The limited inspection report provided by the Applicant, which was a non-invasive, visual 
inspection of the house conducted on June 25, 2025, states that the house has experienced heavy termite 
damage to the extent that the house is a safety hazard. The report noted that the ceilings and floors were 
dangerous, the existence of areas of mold, and the existence of roof damage caused by fallen tree 
branches. While the report and photographs clearly show damage to floors, walls, and ceilings, the report 
is not an assessment of the structural condition of the house or whether the damage can be reasonably 
repaired. 

For the reasons outlined above, staff finds demolition of the subject house is not appropriate, as the 
demolition considerations have not been adequately met. Additionally, the request does is not consistent 
with the Design Guidelines or the intent of the Historic Preservation Standards. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Denial of the request as submitted. 

Report prepared by: Emily Foster, Senior Planner, Historic Preservation 
Liaison to the Historic Preservation Board 

y:\cddo\hpb.drc\hpb-drc 2026\02.26.26\749 vistabula street (hpb26-019)\749 vistabula street staff report.docx Page 3 




































































	HPB Agenda
	DRC Agenda
	HPB26-012, 811 Cumberland St
	HPB26-019, 749 Vistabula St



